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(Begin: 6:30 p.m)

THE HEARI NG OFFI CER°  Good evening, |adies and

gentlenen. This hearing is called to order this
Thur sday, June 29, 2023, at 6:30 p.m

My nane is John Morissette, nenber and
presiding officer of the Connecticut Siting
Council. Oher nenbers of the Council are Brian
ol enbi ewski, designee for Commi ssioner Katie
Dykes of the Departnent of Energy and

Envi ronnmental Protection; Quat Nguyen, designee

for Chairman Marissa Paslick Gllett of the Public

Utilities Regulatory Authority; and we have Robert
Silvestri.

Menbers of the staff are Ml ani e Bachman,
Executive Director and Staff Attorney; |feanyi
Nwankwo, siting analyst; and Lisa Fontaine, fiscal
adm ni strative officer.

| f you haven't done so already, | ask that
everyone please nute their conputer audi o and/or
t el ephones now.

This is a continuation of the renote public
hearing that began at 2 p.m this afternoon. A
copy of the prepared agenda is available on the

Counci | 's Docket Nunmber 515 webpage along with a
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record of this matter, the public hearing notice,
I nstructions for public access to this renote
public hearing, and the Council's Ctizen's Qi de
to Siting Council Procedures.

This hearing is held pursuant to the
provisions of Title 16 of the Connecticut General
Statutes and of the Uniform Adm nistrative
Procedure Act upon an application fromCellco
Part nership, d/b/a Verizon Wreless, for a
certificate of environnmental conpatibility and
public need for the construction, naintenance, and
operation of a tel ecommunications facility |ocated
east of the student transportation parking |lot at
180 School Road in WIlton, Connecticut. The
application was received by the Council on March
17, 2023.

This application is governed by the
Tel econmuni cations Act of 1996, which is
adm ni stered by the Federal Conmuni cations
Comm ssion. This act prohibits this Council from
considering the health effects of radi of requency
em ssions on the human health and wldlife to the
extent the em ssions fromthe towers are within
the federal acceptable safe |imts standards,

whi ch standard is also followed by the State
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Department of Public Health.

The Federal Act also prohibits this Council
fromdiscrimnating between and anongst providers
of functionally equivalent services. This neans
that if one carrier already provides a service in
an area, other carriers have the right to conpete
and provide service in the sane area.

The Council's legal notice of the date and
tinme of this renote public hearing was published
in the Wlton Bulletin on April 20, 20283.

Upon this Council's request, the Applicant
erected a sign in the vicinity of the proposed
Ssite so as to informthe public of the nanme of the
Applicant, the type of the facility, the renote
public hearing date, and contact information for
the Council, including the website and phone
nunber .

Pl ease be advised that the Council's project
eval uation criteria under the statute does not
I ncl ude the consideration of property val ues.

As a rem nder to all, off-the-record
comuni cations with a nenber of the Council or a
menber of the Council's staff upon the nerits of
this application is prohibited by |aw

This renote public comment session is
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reserved for nenbers of the public who signed up

I n advance to nake brief public statenents. These
limted appearance statenents are not subject to
gquestions fromthe parties or the Council, and
nmenbers of the public making statenents nay not
ask questions of the parties or the Council.

I n accordance wth the public hearing notice,
and in fairness to everyone who has signed up to
speak, these public statenents will be limted to
three mnutes. Please be advised that witten
comments may be submtted by any person wthin 30
days of this public hearing.

| wish to note that parties and interveners,
I ncluding their representatives, wtnesses, and
nmenbers are not allowed to participate in the
public comment session. | also wish to note for
those who are listening and for the benefit of
your friends and nei ghbors who are unable to join
us for the renote public coment session, that you
or they may send witten statenents to the Council
wthin 30 days of the date hereof by mail or by
e-mail .

Pl ease be advi sed that any person may be
renoved fromthe public coment session at the

di scretion of the Council. W ask that each
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person making a |limted appearance statenent in
this proceeding to confine his or her statenents
to the subject matter before the Council, and to
avoi d unreasonabl e repetition so that we nmay hear
all the concerns you and your nei ghbors nmay have.
Pl ease be advised that the Council cannot answer
questions fromthe public about the proposal.

A verbatimtranscript wll be nmade of this
hearing and will be deposited in the Wlton Town
Clerk's office for the conveni ence of the public.

At this tinme, | request the applicant to make
a very brief presentation to the public describing

t he proposed facility. Attorney Bal dw n?

MR. BALDWN:. Thank you, M. Morissette.

Good eveni ng, everyone. Again, ny name is
Ken Baldwin. 1'ma |lawer at Robinson & Cole, and
| represent Cellco Partnership doing business as
Verizon Wreless in its proposal to establish a
new t el econmuni cations facility in the northwest
portion of a 109-acre parcel known as 180 School
Road.

Verizon intends to install a
tel ecommuni cations facility on this parcel and
provi de service that is needed al ong portions of

Routes 7, 33, and 106 in the town of WIlton, as
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wel | as the surroundi ng areas, residential and
commerci al and area roadways.

In addition to the coverage benefits, as
testified to this afternoon during the evidentiary
session, the site would al so provide sonme capacity
relief to several of Verizon's surrounding sites
that are currently exhausting in certain antenna
sectors.

Veri zon has worked very closely with the Town
of Wlton through an RFP process to establish a
tel ecommuni cations facility at the school bus
parking |l ot across the street fromthe M ddl ebrook
School .

As shown on the map here, Plan L-2, the
facility would be |ocated in the southeasterly
corner of the school bus parking | ot adjacent to
the lot. Verizon would be using two parking
spaces to access its facility and repl aci ng those
two parking spaces down in the southwest corner of
t he parking |ot.

The facility itself -- if we could go to the
next slide? The facility itself would consist of
a 60-foot by 60-foot fenced conpound area. The
tower would be located in the westerly portion, as

shown on this plan.




10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

Verizon would install an equi pnent pad in the
easterly corner, which would be occupied by an
equi pnent cabinet, a battery cabinet and a backup
generat or, which would provide power to the
facility if comrercial power is otherw se
Interrupted. |It's a propane fuel generator, so in
t he sout hwesterly corner of the conpound there is
a 1, 000-gal l on propane tank that would al so be
Install ed on a concrete pad.

If we could go to the next slide, please?

The tower itself, at the request of the Town
and several of the neighbors that we communi cat ed
with during the public input process, wll be a
123-f oot nonopi ne tower, a tower disqguised as a
pine tree. The top branches for the tree wll
extend to an overall height of 128 feet, and as
di scussed this afternoon, the benefits on the
visual inpact of installing a tree tower here were
fairly substantial, and discussed at this
aft ernoon' s sessi on.

Thank you, M. Morissette.

THE HEARI NG OFFI CER.  Thank you, Attorney Bal dw n.

W will nowcall on First Sel ect woman
Vanderslice to make a public statenent, foll owed

by Anne McCarty.

10
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First Sel ectwonman Vanderslice, please?

FI RST SELECTWOVAN VANDERSLI| CE: Thank you. Good

evening, Presiding Oficer Mrissette and nenbers
of the Council.

As noted, | am Lynn Vanderslice, the el ected
First Sel ectwoman of the Town of WIlton. Thank
you for this opportunity to provide conments on
behal f of WIlton residents and busi nesses. W
support the application that is before you.

The WIlton Board of Sel ectnen determ ned
there were significant deficiencies with cell
service in the area of the proposed tower. W
came to this determ nation based on resident
conpl aints and conmments, town and school enpl oyee
comments, a resident survey, and our collective
experiences in the area. W decided we needed to
address the deficiencies.

The area includes residential and commerci al
properties and critical town buil dings and
facilities, including three of our four public
school s, our community and senior center, a |large
nunber of sports playing fields, the site of our
sunmer canp and ot her recreational prograns, and a
park wwth a swnmm ng pond. The area al so includes

Wlton Center, the Wlton Y, and the popul ar

11
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Norwal k River Valley Trail.

W chose the bus barn | ocation as we believed
It best addressed the needs of the community and
those traveling through Wlton. W also believed
It had mniml visual inpact and disruption to the
nei ghbors.

We fully support the request for a nonopi ne.
We consider the Town's ability to use the tower as
an enhancenent to our public safety capabilities
and we appreciate Verizon's coll aborative and
transparent approach in addressing both Town and
nei ghbor needs and requests.

Agai n, on behalf of the Town, | thank you for
your thoughtful consideration of this application
and hope you will view it favorably. Thank you.

THE HEARI NG OFFI CER.  Thank you, First Sel ect man
Vander sl i ce.

Thank you for com ng out this evening.

We'll now call upon Anne McCarty, followed by
Richard McCarty. Anne MCarty, please?

RI CHARD McCARTY: This is Richard McCarty. My wfe is
not hone fromwork at the nonment -- so if she gets
home in tinme, | would defer to her return.

THE HEARI NG OFFI CER.  Very good. Pl ease continue.

RI CHARD McCARTY: Gkay. Thank you. | am R chard

12
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McCarty. | live at 11 G der MII Place in the
town of WIton.

And first 1'd like to recogni ze Brian Gaudet
at Verizon and the Applicant for his wonderf ul
cooperation and communi cation during his visits to
t he house during the phase of eval uating exposure
and visual inpacts of the tower. He was
outstanding in his approach to the nei ghbors.

Three brief points, if I may? | |live on
Cider MII Place, so | would have to point out
that | think M. Baldwin's slide this evening did
not adequately or correctly indicate the |ocation
of CGder MII Place.

Cider MII Place is not directly across the
street fromthe Applicant's parcel. It is a
little further down the street, and that is why
| "' m perhaps a seasonal viewer of the tower.

But al so, the discussion this afternoon about
alternative site one versus alternative site two,
| did not attend the first discussions on
alternative site one because | did not have an
I npact on it. The nove to alternative site two
has an inpact, so that's why I'mtestifying. And
while | have an infornmed opinion about why the

second site was chosen, it would be triple hearsay

13
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for me to testify to that today.

In response to a question this afternoon
about the availability of natural gas, | know that
t he school across the street, M ddl ebrook School
which is across the street fromthe proposed site,
Is in fact heated by natural gas. Natural gas was
noved up to School Road several years ago, and it
Is used to heat the school's facilities, the town
facilities along School Road, including the Senior
Center, and the other schools that the Honorable
Sel ectman tal ked about .

| think we all know the dangers of a
t housand- pound cont ai ner of propane, and | would
suggest that the Siting Council take appropriate
action to ask Verizon to anend its application to
el i mnate the thousand-pound propane tank and to
replace it wwth a connection to the reasonably
avai | abl e natural gas | ocation.

Third, there was sone discussion also this
afternoon about the wetl ands and drai nage off the
school parking lot. Early in January of this year
there was a fire departnent incident at that
property involving volatile organic conpounds. |
was assured ny interest in that is that the town

enj oys the benefits of a drai nage easenent across

14
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ny property.
And so I'mpretty famliar with the drainage
across School Road, across the ball --
THE HEARING OFFICER. |I'msorry, M. MCarty. Your
time has expired. |Is your wfe avail abl e?
s Ann McCarty avail abl e?
RI CHARD McCARTY: No, she's not avail abl e.
THE HEARI NG OFFI CER°  Okay. We'll come back if she's
avai | abl e before we end this evening. W'IlIl give
It another shot.
We'll now call upon Craig Kelly. M. Kelly?

M. Kelly, are you avail abl e?

(No response.)

THE HEARI NG OFFICER. It doesn't look like M. Kelly is

her e.
M. MCarty, is Ann McCarty avail abl e?
RI CHARD McCARTY: | just heard sonme noise in the
kitchen. Let ne go check -- if you can indul ge ne

for at | east one nonent?

THE HEARI NG OFFI CER  Absol utely. Thank you.

(Pause.)

15
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RI CHARD McCARTY: Thank you. It wasn't her. | think
her only comment woul d have been to | eave the
record open for 90 days and not 30 days.

Thank you.

THE HEARI NG OFFI CER.  Thank you.

M. MCarty, you didn't quite finish your
third point. Please go ahead and finish what you
wer e sayi ng.

RI CHARD McCARTY: Oh, thank you. My third point with
regard to volatile organi c conpounds.

Wiile | was assured by the Town that it was a
one-incident, the presence of volatile organic
conpounds at that site -- now | woul d suggest that
It may be appropriate for the Town to renedi ate
t he drai nage issues off the bus barn property
prior to the approval of this application, and
consistent with everyone's goals with regard to
ESG and the environnent.

So I would ask that the Siting Council take
appropriate action with regard to potenti al
envi ronnental issues presented by the addition of
the tower site.

Thank you, M. Morissette, and thank you to
the Siting Council.

THE HEARI NG OFFI CER.  Very good. Thank you. Thank you

16
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for comng out this evening.

"Il ask for Craig Kelly one nore tine.

(No response.)

THE HEARING OFFICER  Okay. | don't see M. Kelly on

t he screen.

A VOCE He's having a hard tinme unnuting his screen.

THE HEARI NG OFFI CER°  (Okay. Let's give hima second
here. M. Kelly?

(No response.)

A VOCE: He said he's on his phone.
THE HEARI NG OFFI CER°  Unfortunately, he's not -- he's
still nuted. What is his phone nunber?
A VO CE: Hi's phone nunber is (475)279-7910.
THE HEARI NG OFFI CER:  He's on the screen.
He appears to be nuted.
A VO CE: Yeah, he's having a hard tinme unnuti ng.
CRAI G KELLY: Hello? You can hear nme now?

THE HEARI NG OFFI CER.  Yes, we can hear you. Thank you.

CRAI G KELLY: | just pressed star six. | didn't know
t hat was the conbi nati on.

Good afternoon, everyone.

17
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THE HEARI NG OFFI CER  Good evening. Please continue.

CRAI G KELLY: Yes -- no, because | work at a bus
conpany. So you know, | was wondering what woul d
be the effect of us being there on a daily basis?
You know, because we're probably there the nost
hours out of anybody who woul d be affected by the
t ower, per se.

You have sone drivers who | eave earlier, but
they don't really do too nmany hours. But you
have, |ike, the nmechanics and the trainers who are
there for, |Iike you know, several hours a day. So
| just want to know what would be the effect of us
bei ng, you know, there around that tower, you
know, for that |ong period of tinme?

And al so, since the buses sit in the lot, you
know, hours per day, is there an effect of, |ike,
you know, residual -- | don't knowif it's
radi ati on or whatever. You know, whatever the 5G
pushes out, would there be, you know, affecting
the buses just sitting there and us being there
for hours on end?

THE HEARI NG OFFI CER:  Unfortunately, this is a public
comment session, and we do not accept questions or
respond to questions during this session. This is

for public comments only. M suggestion --

18
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CRAI G KELLY: (Unintelligible) --

THE HEARI NG OFFI CER° My suggestion woul d be --

CRAI G KELLY: (Unintelligible) -- go ahead.

THE HEARI NG OFFI CER° My suggestion is to go to the
Connecticut Siting Council webpage under Docket
Nunber 515. And you can review the information
that is avail abl e about the project itself.

CRAI G KELLY: Okay. All right. Thank you.

THE HEARI NG OFFI CER°  (Okay. Anything el se?

CRAI G KELLY: No, thank you. That's it.

THE HEARI NG OFFI CER Very good. Thank you for calling
I n.

Ckay. Wth that, we will be closing the
evidentiary record. Before closing this hearing,
t he Connecticut Siting Council announces t hat
briefs and proposed finding of fact nay be filed
with the Council by any party or intervener no
| ater than July 29, 2023.

The subm ssion of briefs or proposed findings
of fact are not required by this Council. Rather,
we leave it to the choice of the parties and
I nterveners. Anyone who has not becone a party or
I ntervener, but who desires to nmake his or her
views known to the Council may file witten

statenments with the Council wthin 30 days of the

19




10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

dat e hereof.

The Council wll issue draft findings of
fact, and thereafter parties and interveners may
Identify errors or inconsistencies between the
Council's draft findings of fact and the record.
However, no new i nformation, no new evidence, no
argunents, and no reply briefs w thout perm ssion
wi Il be considered by the Council.

Copies of the transcript of this hearing wll
be filed with the Wlton Town Cerk's office.

| hereby declare this hearing adjourned. And
t hank you, everyone, for your participation this
eveni ng. Thank you, everyone. Have a great

eveni ng.

MR. BALDWN: Thank you.

(End: 6:52 p.m)

20
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CERTI FI CATE

| hereby certify that the foregoing 20 pages
are a conplete and accurate conputer-aided
transcription of my original verbatimnotes taken
of the renote public hearing of THE CONNECTI CUT
SI TING COUNCI L PUBLI C HEARING i n Re: DOCKET NO.
515, CELLCO PARTNERSHI P D/ B/ A VERI ZON W RELESS
APPLI CATI ON FOR A CERTI FI CATE OF ENVI RONVVENTAL
COVPATI BI LI TY AND PUBLI C NEED FOR THE
CONSTRUCTI ON, MAI NTENANCE, AND OPERATI ON OF A
TELECOMMUNI CATI ONS FACI LI TY LOCATED EAST OF THE
STUDENT TRANSPORTATI ON PARKI NG LOT AT 180 SCHOOL
ROAD, W LTON, CONNECTI CUT, which was held before
JOHN MORI SSETTE, Menber and Presiding Oficer, on
June 29, 2023.

' . | f
L | —_—

/ - ]
Robert GLDi xon, CVR-M 857

Not ary Publ i¢”
My Comm ssion Expires: 6/30/2025
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 01                       (Begin:  6:30 p.m.)

 02  

 03  THE HEARING OFFICER:  Good evening, ladies and

 04       gentlemen.  This hearing is called to order this

 05       Thursday, June 29, 2023, at 6:30 p.m.

 06            My name is John Morissette, member and

 07       presiding officer of the Connecticut Siting

 08       Council.  Other members of the Council are Brian

 09       Golembiewski, designee for Commissioner Katie

 10       Dykes of the Department of Energy and

 11       Environmental Protection; Quat Nguyen, designee

 12       for Chairman Marissa Paslick Gillett of the Public

 13       Utilities Regulatory Authority; and we have Robert

 14       Silvestri.

 15            Members of the staff are Melanie Bachman,

 16       Executive Director and Staff Attorney; Ifeanyi

 17       Nwankwo, siting analyst; and Lisa Fontaine, fiscal

 18       administrative officer.

 19            If you haven't done so already, I ask that

 20       everyone please mute their computer audio and/or

 21       telephones now.

 22            This is a continuation of the remote public

 23       hearing that began at 2 p.m. this afternoon.  A

 24       copy of the prepared agenda is available on the

 25       Council's Docket Number 515 webpage along with a
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 01       record of this matter, the public hearing notice,

 02       instructions for public access to this remote

 03       public hearing, and the Council's Citizen's Guide

 04       to Siting Council Procedures.

 05            This hearing is held pursuant to the

 06       provisions of Title 16 of the Connecticut General

 07       Statutes and of the Uniform Administrative

 08       Procedure Act upon an application from Cellco

 09       Partnership, d/b/a Verizon Wireless, for a

 10       certificate of environmental compatibility and

 11       public need for the construction, maintenance, and

 12       operation of a telecommunications facility located

 13       east of the student transportation parking lot at

 14       180 School Road in Wilton, Connecticut.  The

 15       application was received by the Council on March

 16       17, 2023.

 17            This application is governed by the

 18       Telecommunications Act of 1996, which is

 19       administered by the Federal Communications

 20       Commission.  This act prohibits this Council from

 21       considering the health effects of radiofrequency

 22       emissions on the human health and wildlife to the

 23       extent the emissions from the towers are within

 24       the federal acceptable safe limits standards,

 25       which standard is also followed by the State
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 01       Department of Public Health.

 02            The Federal Act also prohibits this Council

 03       from discriminating between and amongst providers

 04       of functionally equivalent services.  This means

 05       that if one carrier already provides a service in

 06       an area, other carriers have the right to compete

 07       and provide service in the same area.

 08            The Council's legal notice of the date and

 09       time of this remote public hearing was published

 10       in the Wilton Bulletin on April 20, 2023.

 11            Upon this Council's request, the Applicant

 12       erected a sign in the vicinity of the proposed

 13       site so as to inform the public of the name of the

 14       Applicant, the type of the facility, the remote

 15       public hearing date, and contact information for

 16       the Council, including the website and phone

 17       number.

 18            Please be advised that the Council's project

 19       evaluation criteria under the statute does not

 20       include the consideration of property values.

 21            As a reminder to all, off-the-record

 22       communications with a member of the Council or a

 23       member of the Council's staff upon the merits of

 24       this application is prohibited by law.

 25            This remote public comment session is
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 01       reserved for members of the public who signed up

 02       in advance to make brief public statements.  These

 03       limited appearance statements are not subject to

 04       questions from the parties or the Council, and

 05       members of the public making statements may not

 06       ask questions of the parties or the Council.

 07            In accordance with the public hearing notice,

 08       and in fairness to everyone who has signed up to

 09       speak, these public statements will be limited to

 10       three minutes.  Please be advised that written

 11       comments may be submitted by any person within 30

 12       days of this public hearing.

 13            I wish to note that parties and interveners,

 14       including their representatives, witnesses, and

 15       members are not allowed to participate in the

 16       public comment session.  I also wish to note for

 17       those who are listening and for the benefit of

 18       your friends and neighbors who are unable to join

 19       us for the remote public comment session, that you

 20       or they may send written statements to the Council

 21       within 30 days of the date hereof by mail or by

 22       e-mail.

 23            Please be advised that any person may be

 24       removed from the public comment session at the

 25       discretion of the Council.  We ask that each
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 01       person making a limited appearance statement in

 02       this proceeding to confine his or her statements

 03       to the subject matter before the Council, and to

 04       avoid unreasonable repetition so that we may hear

 05       all the concerns you and your neighbors may have.

 06       Please be advised that the Council cannot answer

 07       questions from the public about the proposal.

 08            A verbatim transcript will be made of this

 09       hearing and will be deposited in the Wilton Town

 10       Clerk's office for the convenience of the public.

 11            At this time, I request the applicant to make

 12       a very brief presentation to the public describing

 13       the proposed facility.  Attorney Baldwin?

 14  MR. BALDWIN:  Thank you, Mr. Morissette.

 15            Good evening, everyone.  Again, my name is

 16       Ken Baldwin.  I'm a lawyer at Robinson & Cole, and

 17       I represent Cellco Partnership doing business as

 18       Verizon Wireless in its proposal to establish a

 19       new telecommunications facility in the northwest

 20       portion of a 109-acre parcel known as 180 School

 21       Road.

 22            Verizon intends to install a

 23       telecommunications facility on this parcel and

 24       provide service that is needed along portions of

 25       Routes 7, 33, and 106 in the town of Wilton, as
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 01       well as the surrounding areas, residential and

 02       commercial and area roadways.

 03            In addition to the coverage benefits, as

 04       testified to this afternoon during the evidentiary

 05       session, the site would also provide some capacity

 06       relief to several of Verizon's surrounding sites

 07       that are currently exhausting in certain antenna

 08       sectors.

 09            Verizon has worked very closely with the Town

 10       of Wilton through an RFP process to establish a

 11       telecommunications facility at the school bus

 12       parking lot across the street from the Middlebrook

 13       School.

 14            As shown on the map here, Plan L-2, the

 15       facility would be located in the southeasterly

 16       corner of the school bus parking lot adjacent to

 17       the lot.  Verizon would be using two parking

 18       spaces to access its facility and replacing those

 19       two parking spaces down in the southwest corner of

 20       the parking lot.

 21            The facility itself -- if we could go to the

 22       next slide?  The facility itself would consist of

 23       a 60-foot by 60-foot fenced compound area.  The

 24       tower would be located in the westerly portion, as

 25       shown on this plan.
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 01            Verizon would install an equipment pad in the

 02       easterly corner, which would be occupied by an

 03       equipment cabinet, a battery cabinet and a backup

 04       generator, which would provide power to the

 05       facility if commercial power is otherwise

 06       interrupted.  It's a propane fuel generator, so in

 07       the southwesterly corner of the compound there is

 08       a 1,000-gallon propane tank that would also be

 09       installed on a concrete pad.

 10            If we could go to the next slide, please?

 11            The tower itself, at the request of the Town

 12       and several of the neighbors that we communicated

 13       with during the public input process, will be a

 14       123-foot monopine tower, a tower disguised as a

 15       pine tree.  The top branches for the tree will

 16       extend to an overall height of 128 feet, and as

 17       discussed this afternoon, the benefits on the

 18       visual impact of installing a tree tower here were

 19       fairly substantial, and discussed at this

 20       afternoon's session.

 21            Thank you, Mr. Morissette.

 22  THE HEARING OFFICER:  Thank you, Attorney Baldwin.

 23            We will now call on First Selectwoman

 24       Vanderslice to make a public statement, followed

 25       by Anne McCarty.
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 01            First Selectwoman Vanderslice, please?

 02  FIRST SELECTWOMAN VANDERSLICE:  Thank you.  Good

 03       evening, Presiding Officer Morissette and members

 04       of the Council.

 05            As noted, I am Lynn Vanderslice, the elected

 06       First Selectwoman of the Town of Wilton.  Thank

 07       you for this opportunity to provide comments on

 08       behalf of Wilton residents and businesses.  We

 09       support the application that is before you.

 10            The Wilton Board of Selectmen determined

 11       there were significant deficiencies with cell

 12       service in the area of the proposed tower.  We

 13       came to this determination based on resident

 14       complaints and comments, town and school employee

 15       comments, a resident survey, and our collective

 16       experiences in the area.  We decided we needed to

 17       address the deficiencies.

 18            The area includes residential and commercial

 19       properties and critical town buildings and

 20       facilities, including three of our four public

 21       schools, our community and senior center, a large

 22       number of sports playing fields, the site of our

 23       summer camp and other recreational programs, and a

 24       park with a swimming pond.  The area also includes

 25       Wilton Center, the Wilton Y, and the popular
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 01       Norwalk River Valley Trail.

 02            We chose the bus barn location as we believed

 03       it best addressed the needs of the community and

 04       those traveling through Wilton.  We also believed

 05       it had minimal visual impact and disruption to the

 06       neighbors.

 07            We fully support the request for a monopine.

 08       We consider the Town's ability to use the tower as

 09       an enhancement to our public safety capabilities

 10       and we appreciate Verizon's collaborative and

 11       transparent approach in addressing both Town and

 12       neighbor needs and requests.

 13            Again, on behalf of the Town, I thank you for

 14       your thoughtful consideration of this application

 15       and hope you will view it favorably.  Thank you.

 16  THE HEARING OFFICER:  Thank you, First Selectman

 17       Vanderslice.

 18            Thank you for coming out this evening.

 19            We'll now call upon Anne McCarty, followed by

 20       Richard McCarty.  Anne McCarty, please?

 21  RICHARD McCARTY:  This is Richard McCarty.  My wife is

 22       not home from work at the moment -- so if she gets

 23       home in time, I would defer to her return.

 24  THE HEARING OFFICER:  Very good.  Please continue.

 25  RICHARD McCARTY:  Okay.  Thank you.  I am Richard
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 01       McCarty.  I live at 11 Cider Mill Place in the

 02       town of Wilton.

 03            And first I'd like to recognize Brian Gaudet

 04       at Verizon and the Applicant for his wonderful

 05       cooperation and communication during his visits to

 06       the house during the phase of evaluating exposure

 07       and visual impacts of the tower.  He was

 08       outstanding in his approach to the neighbors.

 09            Three brief points, if I may?  I live on

 10       Cider Mill Place, so I would have to point out

 11       that I think Mr. Baldwin's slide this evening did

 12       not adequately or correctly indicate the location

 13       of Cider Mill Place.

 14            Cider Mill Place is not directly across the

 15       street from the Applicant's parcel.  It is a

 16       little further down the street, and that is why

 17       I'm perhaps a seasonal viewer of the tower.

 18            But also, the discussion this afternoon about

 19       alternative site one versus alternative site two,

 20       I did not attend the first discussions on

 21       alternative site one because I did not have an

 22       impact on it.  The move to alternative site two

 23       has an impact, so that's why I'm testifying.  And

 24       while I have an informed opinion about why the

 25       second site was chosen, it would be triple hearsay
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 01       for me to testify to that today.

 02            In response to a question this afternoon

 03       about the availability of natural gas, I know that

 04       the school across the street, Middlebrook School

 05       which is across the street from the proposed site,

 06       is in fact heated by natural gas.  Natural gas was

 07       moved up to School Road several years ago, and it

 08       is used to heat the school's facilities, the town

 09       facilities along School Road, including the Senior

 10       Center, and the other schools that the Honorable

 11       Selectman talked about.

 12            I think we all know the dangers of a

 13       thousand-pound container of propane, and I would

 14       suggest that the Siting Council take appropriate

 15       action to ask Verizon to amend its application to

 16       eliminate the thousand-pound propane tank and to

 17       replace it with a connection to the reasonably

 18       available natural gas location.

 19            Third, there was some discussion also this

 20       afternoon about the wetlands and drainage off the

 21       school parking lot.  Early in January of this year

 22       there was a fire department incident at that

 23       property involving volatile organic compounds.  I

 24       was assured my interest in that is that the town

 25       enjoys the benefits of a drainage easement across
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 01       my property.

 02            And so I'm pretty familiar with the drainage

 03       across School Road, across the ball --

 04  THE HEARING OFFICER:  I'm sorry, Mr. McCarty.  Your

 05       time has expired.  Is your wife available?

 06            Is Ann McCarty available?

 07  RICHARD McCARTY:  No, she's not available.

 08  THE HEARING OFFICER:  Okay.  We'll come back if she's

 09       available before we end this evening.  We'll give

 10       it another shot.

 11            We'll now call upon Craig Kelly.  Mr. Kelly?

 12       Mr. Kelly, are you available?

 13  

 14                         (No response.)

 15  

 16  THE HEARING OFFICER:  It doesn't look like Mr. Kelly is

 17       here.

 18            Mr. McCarty, is Ann McCarty available?

 19  RICHARD McCARTY:  I just heard some noise in the

 20       kitchen.  Let me go check -- if you can indulge me

 21       for at least one moment?

 22  THE HEARING OFFICER:  Absolutely.  Thank you.

 23  

 24                            (Pause.)

 25  
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 01  RICHARD McCARTY:  Thank you.  It wasn't her.  I think

 02       her only comment would have been to leave the

 03       record open for 90 days and not 30 days.

 04            Thank you.

 05  THE HEARING OFFICER:  Thank you.

 06            Mr. McCarty, you didn't quite finish your

 07       third point.  Please go ahead and finish what you

 08       were saying.

 09  RICHARD McCARTY:  Oh, thank you.  My third point with

 10       regard to volatile organic compounds.

 11            While I was assured by the Town that it was a

 12       one-incident, the presence of volatile organic

 13       compounds at that site -- now I would suggest that

 14       it may be appropriate for the Town to remediate

 15       the drainage issues off the bus barn property

 16       prior to the approval of this application, and

 17       consistent with everyone's goals with regard to

 18       ESG and the environment.

 19            So I would ask that the Siting Council take

 20       appropriate action with regard to potential

 21       environmental issues presented by the addition of

 22       the tower site.

 23            Thank you, Mr. Morissette, and thank you to

 24       the Siting Council.

 25  THE HEARING OFFICER:  Very good.  Thank you.  Thank you
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 01       for coming out this evening.

 02            I'll ask for Craig Kelly one more time.

 03  

 04                         (No response.)

 05  

 06  THE HEARING OFFICER:  Okay.  I don't see Mr. Kelly on

 07       the screen.

 08  A VOICE:  He's having a hard time unmuting his screen.

 09  THE HEARING OFFICER:  Okay.  Let's give him a second

 10       here.  Mr. Kelly?

 11  

 12                         (No response.)

 13  

 14  A VOICE:  He said he's on his phone.

 15  THE HEARING OFFICER:  Unfortunately, he's not -- he's

 16       still muted.  What is his phone number?

 17  A VOICE:  His phone number is (475)279-7910.

 18  THE HEARING OFFICER:  He's on the screen.

 19            He appears to be muted.

 20  A VOICE:  Yeah, he's having a hard time unmuting.

 21  CRAIG KELLY:  Hello?  You can hear me now?

 22  THE HEARING OFFICER:  Yes, we can hear you.  Thank you.

 23  CRAIG KELLY:  I just pressed star six.  I didn't know

 24       that was the combination.

 25            Good afternoon, everyone.
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 01  THE HEARING OFFICER:  Good evening.  Please continue.

 02  CRAIG KELLY:  Yes -- no, because I work at a bus

 03       company.  So you know, I was wondering what would

 04       be the effect of us being there on a daily basis?

 05       You know, because we're probably there the most

 06       hours out of anybody who would be affected by the

 07       tower, per se.

 08            You have some drivers who leave earlier, but

 09       they don't really do too many hours.  But you

 10       have, like, the mechanics and the trainers who are

 11       there for, like you know, several hours a day.  So

 12       I just want to know what would be the effect of us

 13       being, you know, there around that tower, you

 14       know, for that long period of time?

 15            And also, since the buses sit in the lot, you

 16       know, hours per day, is there an effect of, like,

 17       you know, residual -- I don't know if it's

 18       radiation or whatever.  You know, whatever the 5G

 19       pushes out, would there be, you know, affecting

 20       the buses just sitting there and us being there

 21       for hours on end?

 22  THE HEARING OFFICER:  Unfortunately, this is a public

 23       comment session, and we do not accept questions or

 24       respond to questions during this session.  This is

 25       for public comments only.  My suggestion --
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 01  CRAIG KELLY:  (Unintelligible) --

 02  THE HEARING OFFICER:  My suggestion would be --

 03  CRAIG KELLY:  (Unintelligible) -- go ahead.

 04  THE HEARING OFFICER:  My suggestion is to go to the

 05       Connecticut Siting Council webpage under Docket

 06       Number 515.  And you can review the information

 07       that is available about the project itself.

 08  CRAIG KELLY:  Okay.  All right.  Thank you.

 09  THE HEARING OFFICER:  Okay.  Anything else?

 10  CRAIG KELLY:  No, thank you.  That's it.

 11  THE HEARING OFFICER:  Very good.  Thank you for calling

 12       in.

 13            Okay.  With that, we will be closing the

 14       evidentiary record.  Before closing this hearing,

 15       the Connecticut Siting Council announces that

 16       briefs and proposed finding of fact may be filed

 17       with the Council by any party or intervener no

 18       later than July 29, 2023.

 19            The submission of briefs or proposed findings

 20       of fact are not required by this Council.  Rather,

 21       we leave it to the choice of the parties and

 22       interveners.  Anyone who has not become a party or

 23       intervener, but who desires to make his or her

 24       views known to the Council may file written

 25       statements with the Council within 30 days of the
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 01       date hereof.

 02            The Council will issue draft findings of

 03       fact, and thereafter parties and interveners may

 04       identify errors or inconsistencies between the

 05       Council's draft findings of fact and the record.

 06       However, no new information, no new evidence, no

 07       arguments, and no reply briefs without permission

 08       will be considered by the Council.

 09            Copies of the transcript of this hearing will

 10       be filed with the Wilton Town Clerk's office.

 11            I hereby declare this hearing adjourned.  And

 12       thank you, everyone, for your participation this

 13       evening.  Thank you, everyone.  Have a great

 14       evening.

 15  MR. BALDWIN:  Thank you.

 16  

 17                        (End:  6:52 p.m.)

 18  

 19  

 20  

 21  

 22  

 23  

 24  

 25  
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 01                           CERTIFICATE

 02  

 03            I hereby certify that the foregoing 20 pages

 04       are a complete and accurate computer-aided

 05       transcription of my original verbatim notes taken

 06       of the remote public hearing of THE CONNECTICUT

 07       SITING COUNCIL PUBLIC HEARING in Re:  DOCKET NO.

 08       515, CELLCO PARTNERSHIP D/B/A VERIZON WIRELESS

 09       APPLICATION FOR A CERTIFICATE OF ENVIRONMENTAL

 10       COMPATIBILITY AND PUBLIC NEED FOR THE

 11       CONSTRUCTION, MAINTENANCE, AND OPERATION OF A

 12       TELECOMMUNICATIONS FACILITY LOCATED EAST OF THE

 13       STUDENT TRANSPORTATION PARKING LOT AT 180 SCHOOL

 14       ROAD, WILTON, CONNECTICUT, which was held before

 15       JOHN MORISSETTE, Member and Presiding Officer, on

 16       June 29, 2023.

 17  

 18  

 19                      _________________________________

                         Robert G. Dixon, CVR-M 857

 20                      Notary Public

                         My Commission Expires:  6/30/2025

 21  

 22  

 23  

 24  
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 1                        (Begin:  6:30 p.m.)



 2



 3   THE HEARING OFFICER:  Good evening, ladies and



 4        gentlemen.  This hearing is called to order this



 5        Thursday, June 29, 2023, at 6:30 p.m.



 6             My name is John Morissette, member and



 7        presiding officer of the Connecticut Siting



 8        Council.  Other members of the Council are Brian



 9        Golembiewski, designee for Commissioner Katie



10        Dykes of the Department of Energy and



11        Environmental Protection; Quat Nguyen, designee



12        for Chairman Marissa Paslick Gillett of the Public



13        Utilities Regulatory Authority; and we have Robert



14        Silvestri.



15             Members of the staff are Melanie Bachman,



16        Executive Director and Staff Attorney; Ifeanyi



17        Nwankwo, siting analyst; and Lisa Fontaine, fiscal



18        administrative officer.



19             If you haven't done so already, I ask that



20        everyone please mute their computer audio and/or



21        telephones now.



22             This is a continuation of the remote public



23        hearing that began at 2 p.m. this afternoon.  A



24        copy of the prepared agenda is available on the



25        Council's Docket Number 515 webpage along with a
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 1        record of this matter, the public hearing notice,



 2        instructions for public access to this remote



 3        public hearing, and the Council's Citizen's Guide



 4        to Siting Council Procedures.



 5             This hearing is held pursuant to the



 6        provisions of Title 16 of the Connecticut General



 7        Statutes and of the Uniform Administrative



 8        Procedure Act upon an application from Cellco



 9        Partnership, d/b/a Verizon Wireless, for a



10        certificate of environmental compatibility and



11        public need for the construction, maintenance, and



12        operation of a telecommunications facility located



13        east of the student transportation parking lot at



14        180 School Road in Wilton, Connecticut.  The



15        application was received by the Council on March



16        17, 2023.



17             This application is governed by the



18        Telecommunications Act of 1996, which is



19        administered by the Federal Communications



20        Commission.  This act prohibits this Council from



21        considering the health effects of radiofrequency



22        emissions on the human health and wildlife to the



23        extent the emissions from the towers are within



24        the federal acceptable safe limits standards,



25        which standard is also followed by the State
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 1        Department of Public Health.



 2             The Federal Act also prohibits this Council



 3        from discriminating between and amongst providers



 4        of functionally equivalent services.  This means



 5        that if one carrier already provides a service in



 6        an area, other carriers have the right to compete



 7        and provide service in the same area.



 8             The Council's legal notice of the date and



 9        time of this remote public hearing was published



10        in the Wilton Bulletin on April 20, 2023.



11             Upon this Council's request, the Applicant



12        erected a sign in the vicinity of the proposed



13        site so as to inform the public of the name of the



14        Applicant, the type of the facility, the remote



15        public hearing date, and contact information for



16        the Council, including the website and phone



17        number.



18             Please be advised that the Council's project



19        evaluation criteria under the statute does not



20        include the consideration of property values.



21             As a reminder to all, off-the-record



22        communications with a member of the Council or a



23        member of the Council's staff upon the merits of



24        this application is prohibited by law.



25             This remote public comment session is
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 1        reserved for members of the public who signed up



 2        in advance to make brief public statements.  These



 3        limited appearance statements are not subject to



 4        questions from the parties or the Council, and



 5        members of the public making statements may not



 6        ask questions of the parties or the Council.



 7             In accordance with the public hearing notice,



 8        and in fairness to everyone who has signed up to



 9        speak, these public statements will be limited to



10        three minutes.  Please be advised that written



11        comments may be submitted by any person within 30



12        days of this public hearing.



13             I wish to note that parties and interveners,



14        including their representatives, witnesses, and



15        members are not allowed to participate in the



16        public comment session.  I also wish to note for



17        those who are listening and for the benefit of



18        your friends and neighbors who are unable to join



19        us for the remote public comment session, that you



20        or they may send written statements to the Council



21        within 30 days of the date hereof by mail or by



22        e-mail.



23             Please be advised that any person may be



24        removed from the public comment session at the



25        discretion of the Council.  We ask that each
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 1        person making a limited appearance statement in



 2        this proceeding to confine his or her statements



 3        to the subject matter before the Council, and to



 4        avoid unreasonable repetition so that we may hear



 5        all the concerns you and your neighbors may have.



 6        Please be advised that the Council cannot answer



 7        questions from the public about the proposal.



 8             A verbatim transcript will be made of this



 9        hearing and will be deposited in the Wilton Town



10        Clerk's office for the convenience of the public.



11             At this time, I request the applicant to make



12        a very brief presentation to the public describing



13        the proposed facility.  Attorney Baldwin?



14   MR. BALDWIN:  Thank you, Mr. Morissette.



15             Good evening, everyone.  Again, my name is



16        Ken Baldwin.  I'm a lawyer at Robinson & Cole, and



17        I represent Cellco Partnership doing business as



18        Verizon Wireless in its proposal to establish a



19        new telecommunications facility in the northwest



20        portion of a 109-acre parcel known as 180 School



21        Road.



22             Verizon intends to install a



23        telecommunications facility on this parcel and



24        provide service that is needed along portions of



25        Routes 7, 33, and 106 in the town of Wilton, as
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 1        well as the surrounding areas, residential and



 2        commercial and area roadways.



 3             In addition to the coverage benefits, as



 4        testified to this afternoon during the evidentiary



 5        session, the site would also provide some capacity



 6        relief to several of Verizon's surrounding sites



 7        that are currently exhausting in certain antenna



 8        sectors.



 9             Verizon has worked very closely with the Town



10        of Wilton through an RFP process to establish a



11        telecommunications facility at the school bus



12        parking lot across the street from the Middlebrook



13        School.



14             As shown on the map here, Plan L-2, the



15        facility would be located in the southeasterly



16        corner of the school bus parking lot adjacent to



17        the lot.  Verizon would be using two parking



18        spaces to access its facility and replacing those



19        two parking spaces down in the southwest corner of



20        the parking lot.



21             The facility itself -- if we could go to the



22        next slide?  The facility itself would consist of



23        a 60-foot by 60-foot fenced compound area.  The



24        tower would be located in the westerly portion, as



25        shown on this plan.
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 1             Verizon would install an equipment pad in the



 2        easterly corner, which would be occupied by an



 3        equipment cabinet, a battery cabinet and a backup



 4        generator, which would provide power to the



 5        facility if commercial power is otherwise



 6        interrupted.  It's a propane fuel generator, so in



 7        the southwesterly corner of the compound there is



 8        a 1,000-gallon propane tank that would also be



 9        installed on a concrete pad.



10             If we could go to the next slide, please?



11             The tower itself, at the request of the Town



12        and several of the neighbors that we communicated



13        with during the public input process, will be a



14        123-foot monopine tower, a tower disguised as a



15        pine tree.  The top branches for the tree will



16        extend to an overall height of 128 feet, and as



17        discussed this afternoon, the benefits on the



18        visual impact of installing a tree tower here were



19        fairly substantial, and discussed at this



20        afternoon's session.



21             Thank you, Mr. Morissette.



22   THE HEARING OFFICER:  Thank you, Attorney Baldwin.



23             We will now call on First Selectwoman



24        Vanderslice to make a public statement, followed



25        by Anne McCarty.
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 1             First Selectwoman Vanderslice, please?



 2   FIRST SELECTWOMAN VANDERSLICE:  Thank you.  Good



 3        evening, Presiding Officer Morissette and members



 4        of the Council.



 5             As noted, I am Lynn Vanderslice, the elected



 6        First Selectwoman of the Town of Wilton.  Thank



 7        you for this opportunity to provide comments on



 8        behalf of Wilton residents and businesses.  We



 9        support the application that is before you.



10             The Wilton Board of Selectmen determined



11        there were significant deficiencies with cell



12        service in the area of the proposed tower.  We



13        came to this determination based on resident



14        complaints and comments, town and school employee



15        comments, a resident survey, and our collective



16        experiences in the area.  We decided we needed to



17        address the deficiencies.



18             The area includes residential and commercial



19        properties and critical town buildings and



20        facilities, including three of our four public



21        schools, our community and senior center, a large



22        number of sports playing fields, the site of our



23        summer camp and other recreational programs, and a



24        park with a swimming pond.  The area also includes



25        Wilton Center, the Wilton Y, and the popular
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 1        Norwalk River Valley Trail.



 2             We chose the bus barn location as we believed



 3        it best addressed the needs of the community and



 4        those traveling through Wilton.  We also believed



 5        it had minimal visual impact and disruption to the



 6        neighbors.



 7             We fully support the request for a monopine.



 8        We consider the Town's ability to use the tower as



 9        an enhancement to our public safety capabilities



10        and we appreciate Verizon's collaborative and



11        transparent approach in addressing both Town and



12        neighbor needs and requests.



13             Again, on behalf of the Town, I thank you for



14        your thoughtful consideration of this application



15        and hope you will view it favorably.  Thank you.



16   THE HEARING OFFICER:  Thank you, First Selectman



17        Vanderslice.



18             Thank you for coming out this evening.



19             We'll now call upon Anne McCarty, followed by



20        Richard McCarty.  Anne McCarty, please?



21   RICHARD McCARTY:  This is Richard McCarty.  My wife is



22        not home from work at the moment -- so if she gets



23        home in time, I would defer to her return.



24   THE HEARING OFFICER:  Very good.  Please continue.



25   RICHARD McCARTY:  Okay.  Thank you.  I am Richard
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 1        McCarty.  I live at 11 Cider Mill Place in the



 2        town of Wilton.



 3             And first I'd like to recognize Brian Gaudet



 4        at Verizon and the Applicant for his wonderful



 5        cooperation and communication during his visits to



 6        the house during the phase of evaluating exposure



 7        and visual impacts of the tower.  He was



 8        outstanding in his approach to the neighbors.



 9             Three brief points, if I may?  I live on



10        Cider Mill Place, so I would have to point out



11        that I think Mr. Baldwin's slide this evening did



12        not adequately or correctly indicate the location



13        of Cider Mill Place.



14             Cider Mill Place is not directly across the



15        street from the Applicant's parcel.  It is a



16        little further down the street, and that is why



17        I'm perhaps a seasonal viewer of the tower.



18             But also, the discussion this afternoon about



19        alternative site one versus alternative site two,



20        I did not attend the first discussions on



21        alternative site one because I did not have an



22        impact on it.  The move to alternative site two



23        has an impact, so that's why I'm testifying.  And



24        while I have an informed opinion about why the



25        second site was chosen, it would be triple hearsay
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 1        for me to testify to that today.



 2             In response to a question this afternoon



 3        about the availability of natural gas, I know that



 4        the school across the street, Middlebrook School



 5        which is across the street from the proposed site,



 6        is in fact heated by natural gas.  Natural gas was



 7        moved up to School Road several years ago, and it



 8        is used to heat the school's facilities, the town



 9        facilities along School Road, including the Senior



10        Center, and the other schools that the Honorable



11        Selectman talked about.



12             I think we all know the dangers of a



13        thousand-pound container of propane, and I would



14        suggest that the Siting Council take appropriate



15        action to ask Verizon to amend its application to



16        eliminate the thousand-pound propane tank and to



17        replace it with a connection to the reasonably



18        available natural gas location.



19             Third, there was some discussion also this



20        afternoon about the wetlands and drainage off the



21        school parking lot.  Early in January of this year



22        there was a fire department incident at that



23        property involving volatile organic compounds.  I



24        was assured my interest in that is that the town



25        enjoys the benefits of a drainage easement across
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 1        my property.



 2             And so I'm pretty familiar with the drainage



 3        across School Road, across the ball --



 4   THE HEARING OFFICER:  I'm sorry, Mr. McCarty.  Your



 5        time has expired.  Is your wife available?



 6             Is Ann McCarty available?



 7   RICHARD McCARTY:  No, she's not available.



 8   THE HEARING OFFICER:  Okay.  We'll come back if she's



 9        available before we end this evening.  We'll give



10        it another shot.



11             We'll now call upon Craig Kelly.  Mr. Kelly?



12        Mr. Kelly, are you available?



13



14                          (No response.)



15



16   THE HEARING OFFICER:  It doesn't look like Mr. Kelly is



17        here.



18             Mr. McCarty, is Ann McCarty available?



19   RICHARD McCARTY:  I just heard some noise in the



20        kitchen.  Let me go check -- if you can indulge me



21        for at least one moment?



22   THE HEARING OFFICER:  Absolutely.  Thank you.



23



24                             (Pause.)



25
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 1   RICHARD McCARTY:  Thank you.  It wasn't her.  I think



 2        her only comment would have been to leave the



 3        record open for 90 days and not 30 days.



 4             Thank you.



 5   THE HEARING OFFICER:  Thank you.



 6             Mr. McCarty, you didn't quite finish your



 7        third point.  Please go ahead and finish what you



 8        were saying.



 9   RICHARD McCARTY:  Oh, thank you.  My third point with



10        regard to volatile organic compounds.



11             While I was assured by the Town that it was a



12        one-incident, the presence of volatile organic



13        compounds at that site -- now I would suggest that



14        it may be appropriate for the Town to remediate



15        the drainage issues off the bus barn property



16        prior to the approval of this application, and



17        consistent with everyone's goals with regard to



18        ESG and the environment.



19             So I would ask that the Siting Council take



20        appropriate action with regard to potential



21        environmental issues presented by the addition of



22        the tower site.



23             Thank you, Mr. Morissette, and thank you to



24        the Siting Council.



25   THE HEARING OFFICER:  Very good.  Thank you.  Thank you
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 1        for coming out this evening.



 2             I'll ask for Craig Kelly one more time.



 3



 4                          (No response.)



 5



 6   THE HEARING OFFICER:  Okay.  I don't see Mr. Kelly on



 7        the screen.



 8   A VOICE:  He's having a hard time unmuting his screen.



 9   THE HEARING OFFICER:  Okay.  Let's give him a second



10        here.  Mr. Kelly?



11



12                          (No response.)



13



14   A VOICE:  He said he's on his phone.



15   THE HEARING OFFICER:  Unfortunately, he's not -- he's



16        still muted.  What is his phone number?



17   A VOICE:  His phone number is (475)279-7910.



18   THE HEARING OFFICER:  He's on the screen.



19             He appears to be muted.



20   A VOICE:  Yeah, he's having a hard time unmuting.



21   CRAIG KELLY:  Hello?  You can hear me now?



22   THE HEARING OFFICER:  Yes, we can hear you.  Thank you.



23   CRAIG KELLY:  I just pressed star six.  I didn't know



24        that was the combination.



25             Good afternoon, everyone.
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 1   THE HEARING OFFICER:  Good evening.  Please continue.



 2   CRAIG KELLY:  Yes -- no, because I work at a bus



 3        company.  So you know, I was wondering what would



 4        be the effect of us being there on a daily basis?



 5        You know, because we're probably there the most



 6        hours out of anybody who would be affected by the



 7        tower, per se.



 8             You have some drivers who leave earlier, but



 9        they don't really do too many hours.  But you



10        have, like, the mechanics and the trainers who are



11        there for, like you know, several hours a day.  So



12        I just want to know what would be the effect of us



13        being, you know, there around that tower, you



14        know, for that long period of time?



15             And also, since the buses sit in the lot, you



16        know, hours per day, is there an effect of, like,



17        you know, residual -- I don't know if it's



18        radiation or whatever.  You know, whatever the 5G



19        pushes out, would there be, you know, affecting



20        the buses just sitting there and us being there



21        for hours on end?



22   THE HEARING OFFICER:  Unfortunately, this is a public



23        comment session, and we do not accept questions or



24        respond to questions during this session.  This is



25        for public comments only.  My suggestion --
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 1   CRAIG KELLY:  (Unintelligible) --



 2   THE HEARING OFFICER:  My suggestion would be --



 3   CRAIG KELLY:  (Unintelligible) -- go ahead.



 4   THE HEARING OFFICER:  My suggestion is to go to the



 5        Connecticut Siting Council webpage under Docket



 6        Number 515.  And you can review the information



 7        that is available about the project itself.



 8   CRAIG KELLY:  Okay.  All right.  Thank you.



 9   THE HEARING OFFICER:  Okay.  Anything else?



10   CRAIG KELLY:  No, thank you.  That's it.



11   THE HEARING OFFICER:  Very good.  Thank you for calling



12        in.



13             Okay.  With that, we will be closing the



14        evidentiary record.  Before closing this hearing,



15        the Connecticut Siting Council announces that



16        briefs and proposed finding of fact may be filed



17        with the Council by any party or intervener no



18        later than July 29, 2023.



19             The submission of briefs or proposed findings



20        of fact are not required by this Council.  Rather,



21        we leave it to the choice of the parties and



22        interveners.  Anyone who has not become a party or



23        intervener, but who desires to make his or her



24        views known to the Council may file written



25        statements with the Council within 30 days of the
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 1        date hereof.



 2             The Council will issue draft findings of



 3        fact, and thereafter parties and interveners may



 4        identify errors or inconsistencies between the



 5        Council's draft findings of fact and the record.



 6        However, no new information, no new evidence, no



 7        arguments, and no reply briefs without permission



 8        will be considered by the Council.



 9             Copies of the transcript of this hearing will



10        be filed with the Wilton Town Clerk's office.



11             I hereby declare this hearing adjourned.  And



12        thank you, everyone, for your participation this



13        evening.  Thank you, everyone.  Have a great



14        evening.



15   MR. BALDWIN:  Thank you.



16



17                         (End:  6:52 p.m.)



18
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 1                            CERTIFICATE



 2



 3             I hereby certify that the foregoing 20 pages



 4        are a complete and accurate computer-aided



 5        transcription of my original verbatim notes taken



 6        of the remote public hearing of THE CONNECTICUT



 7        SITING COUNCIL PUBLIC HEARING in Re:  DOCKET NO.



 8        515, CELLCO PARTNERSHIP D/B/A VERIZON WIRELESS



 9        APPLICATION FOR A CERTIFICATE OF ENVIRONMENTAL



10        COMPATIBILITY AND PUBLIC NEED FOR THE



11        CONSTRUCTION, MAINTENANCE, AND OPERATION OF A



12        TELECOMMUNICATIONS FACILITY LOCATED EAST OF THE



13        STUDENT TRANSPORTATION PARKING LOT AT 180 SCHOOL



14        ROAD, WILTON, CONNECTICUT, which was held before



15        JOHN MORISSETTE, Member and Presiding Officer, on



16        June 29, 2023.



17



18



19                       _________________________________

                         Robert G. Dixon, CVR-M 857

20                       Notary Public

                         My Commission Expires:  6/30/2025
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